

## CURRICULUM VITAE CARMEN PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ



**Carmen Pérez** JD and PhD (University Carlos III of Madrid) is currently Associate Professor of Public International Law at Universidad Carlos III de Madrid, Spain. She served as member of the Spanish Committee on Sport Discipline between 2005 and 2014, as Adviser for International Affairs at the Cabinet of the Spanish Secretary of State for Migration between 2004 and 2008, as and as alternate member of the Management Board of the Fundamental Rights Agency of the European Union between 2009 and 2010. From September 2015 to June 2016, she was member of the European Commission High Level Group of Sport Diplomacy. She is currently the President of the Disciplinary Competition Committee of the Spanish Football Association.

She has been the project leader of Spanish national projects on the role of sport in EU Law and on the legal protection of vulnerable migrant women, and she is now a project partners of two Erasmus+ funded projects focused on football agents in Europe (2018-2019) and EU Sports Diplomacy (2019-2020). Dr. Pérez has written extensively in the area of International Human Rights Law, International Migration Law and International and EU sports law, the fight against doping in sport and the protection of human rights of athletes. She has received the Silver Medal of the Royal Order of Sports Merit (Spanish: Real Orden del Mérito Deportivo) awarded by the President of the National Sports Council. She is the Chair Holder of the UNESCO Chair ELIS (Education Linkage through International Sports) in Sports Diplomacy and development of a human rights culture through sport.

### 1. ACADEMIC QUALIFICATIONS

-BA Law, Universidad Carlos III de Madrid, 1994.

### Contact details

**Actual position:** Associate Professor of Public International Law

**Address:**  
Universidad Carlos III de Madrid  
Office 15.1.25  
C/ Madrid 126  
28903 Getafe-Madrid  
Spain

**Mobile phone:**  
+34650325788

**Email address:**  
[carmen.perez@uc3m.es](mailto:carmen.perez@uc3m.es)

**Date of birth:** 28.06.1972

**Gender:** Female

**Proficiency to teach in English:**  
C1

-PhD, State Liability against Individuals for Infringement of Community Law, Universidad Carlos III de Madrid, 2000.

-Specialization in International Criminal Law, Universidad Nacional de Educación a Distancia, 2014.

## **2. ACADEMIC POSITIONS**

-From October 2015, Vicedean for International Relations and Academic Exchanges at the Faculty of Law and Social Sciences, Universidad Carlos III de Madrid.

## **3. TEACHING**

Carmen Pérez has taught a range of law courses on the UC3M undergraduate and postgraduate curriculum. She began her academic career in 1995 as Assistant Professor at the Law and Social Sciences School. Her teaching interests cover the following areas:

-Public International Law

-International Human Rights Law

-International and European Sports Law

-International Migrations

-Sports Diplomacy

## **4. PARTICIPATION IN RESEARCH PROJECTS (SELECTED)**

### **4.1. AS TEAM PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR**

-“Teorías de la justicia y Derecho Global de los Derechos Humanos”, Spanish Ministry of Science and Innovation (2020-2024).

-“Consolidación de la memoria democrática en España, derechos de las víctimas y obligaciones de los poderes públicos: un análisis desde el Derecho internacional, comparado e interno”, Spanish Ministry of the Presidency (2020-2021).

-“Issues on sports law”, Consultancy contract with the Spanish Football Association, from 2018.

-“Protección de mujeres inmigrantes en situación de especial vulnerabilidad”, Research Project funded by the Government of Madrid, 2011.

-“El Deporte en el marco comunitario europeo”, Research Project funded by the Spanish Sport Council, 2002.

## **4.2. AS TEAM MEMBER**

-“Promoting a Strategic Approach to EU Sports Diplomacy”, funded by the Erasmus+ Programme (Collaborative Partnerships) of the European Union, 2019-2020, team leader: Richard Parrish (Edge Hill University, UK).

-“Promoting and Supporting Good Governance in the European Football Agents Industry”, funded by the Erasmus+ Programme (Collaborative Partnerships) of the European Union, 2018-2019, team leader: Richard Parrish (Edge Hill University, UK).

-“Reforma constitucional: problemas filosóficos y jurídicos”, funded by the Spanish Ministry of Economy, 2016-2019, team leaders: José María Sauca Cano y Rafael Escudero Alday (Universidad Carlos III de Madrid, Spain).

-“Modern challenges to the European integration: international policy and legal aspects”, Jean Monnet Project 565663-EPP-1-2015-1-RU- EPPJMO-PROJECT, funded by the European Commission, 2016-2017, team leader: Yuriy Kosov Noth-West Institute of Management-Branch of RANEPa, Russia).

-“Identidades y ciudadanía. Fundamentos político jurídicos de la diversidad”, funded by the Spanish Ministry of Economy, 2013-2015, team leader: José María Sauca Cano (Universidad Carlos III de Madrid, Spain).

-“The fight against trafficking in human beings in EU: promoting legal cooperation and victim’s protection”, funded by the European Commission, 2012-2013, team leader: Centro de Estudos Sociais (University of Coimbra, Portugal).

-“Derecho y construcción social de la identidad”, funded by the Spanish Ministry of Science and Innovation, 2010-2012, team leader: José María Sauca Cano (Universidad Carlos III de Madrid, Spain).

-“TRUST-CM: DIDYJ. La cultura de la legalidad: Transparencia, Confianza, Responsabilidad”, funded by the Government of Madrid, 2008-2011, team leader: José María Sauca Cano (Universidad Carlos III de Madrid, Spain).

## **5. PUBLICATIONS (SELECTED)**

### **5.1. AUTHORED BOOKS**

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2018), *Lex Sportiva y Derecho Internacional*, Thomson Reuters Aranzadi.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. and SÁNCHEZ HERRÁEZ, P. (2012), *El Conflicto Palestino-Israelí II*, Ministerio de Defensa.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2012), *Migraciones irregulares y Derecho internacional. Gestión de los flujos migratorios, devolución de extranjeros en situación administrativa irregular y Derecho Internacional de los Derechos Humanos*, Tirant lo Blanch.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2008), *Las obligaciones de los Estados en materia de prevención, control y sanción del dopaje en el deporte*, Thomson Aranzadi.

-CEBADA ROMERO, A. and PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2003), *El Alto Representante de la PESC y la nueva política europea de seguridad y defensa*, Dykinson.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2001), *Responsabilidad del Estado frente a particulares por incumplimiento del Derecho comunitario*, Tirant lo Blanch.

## 5.2. EDITED BOOKS

-PALOMAR OLMEDA (dir.) and PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (coord.) (2017), *Un nuevo marco jurídico para el deporte*, Aranzadi.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (dir.) (2014), *Derecho Internacional y protección de mujeres migrantes en situación de especial vulnerabilidad*, Tirant lo Blanch.

-ESCUADERO ALDAY, R. and PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2013), *Desapariciones forzadas, represión política y crímenes del franquismo*, Trotta.

-ESCUADERO ALDAY, R. and PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (dir.) (2009), *La responsabilidad penal por la comisión de crímenes de guerra: el caso de Palestina*, Aranzadi.

## 5.3. BOOK CHAPTERS

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. and IPPOLITO, F. (forthcoming), “Handle with Care’ in Strasbourg: The Effective Access of Vulnerable Irregular Migrants to Minimum Social-economic Rights”, in: *Migration and the European Convention of Human Rights*, Oxford University Press.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2020), “El Derecho Internacional de los Derechos Humanos ante las crisis sanitarias: principios aplicables y obligaciones de los Estados”, in: “Las respuestas del Derecho a las crisis de salud pública”, Dykinson, pp. 265-278.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2019), *Deporte y derechos humanos: una reflexión sobre los límites de la Lex Sportiva*, in: *Anuario de los Cursos de Derechos Humanos de Donostia-San Sebastián*, Vol. XIX, pp. 160-209.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2019), “Avances en la protección internacional de las mujeres frente a la violencia doméstica: Especial referencia a la reciente doctrina del CEDAW y el Tribunal Supremo español relativa a la obligatoriedad de los dictámenes de los órganos de vigilancia de tratados de derechos humanos”, in “El Derecho frente a la violencia dentro de la familia. Un acercamiento

multidisciplinar a la violencia de género y la protección de los hijos menores de edad”, Thomson Reuters Aranzadi, pp. 139-164.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2019), *El deporte inclusivo y adaptado: Un análisis desde el Derecho Internacional de los Derechos Humanos*, in “Régimen jurídico del deporte de personas con discapacidad”, Editorial Reus, pp. 11-38.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2019), *Migrant and Refugee Children Protection against Trafficking and Exploitation: Assessing EU Response from an International Human Rights Law Perspective*, in “Routledge Handbook of EU Security Law and Policy”, Routledge, pp. 323-339.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2017), *Política europea de inmigración y asilo*, in “Las migraciones internacionales, percepción y realidad. Un análisis desde la perspectiva de la seguridad”, Ministerio de Defensa-Escuela Superior de las Fuerzas Armadas, pp. 67-107.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2017), *The Protection of Social Rights of Irregular Migrants: A Comparative Analysis of the Role of the European Regional Judicial Mechanisms of Human Rights Protection* (in Russian) in “International Integration and International Law”, SZIU RANÉPA, pp. 498-508.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2016), *De FRONTEX a la Agencia Europea de la Guardia de Fronteras y Costas: ¿Cambia todo para que todo siga igual? A propósito de la necesidad de mejorar la protección de los derechos fundamentales*, in “El control de las agencias del Espacio de Libertad, Seguridad y Justicia”, Marcial Pons, pp. 191-208.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2016), *El tiempo y el Derecho en la jurisprudencia de la Corte Interamericana de Derechos Humanos: a propósito de la competencia racione temporis de la Corte en los casos de desapariciones forzadas*, in “La América de los derechos”, Centro de Estudios Políticos y Constitucionales, pp. 133-150.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2015), *Menores deportistas y protección de derechos humanos*, in “Problematiche giuridiche e ruolo sociale dello sport/Problemática jurídica y papel social del deporte”, Edizione Scientifiche Italiane, pp. 585-613.

-FERNÁNDEZ GÓMEZ, I. and PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2015), *La protección de los menores de edad víctimas de trata de seres humanos: Derecho internacional, europeo y español*, in “La trata de seres humanos: persecución penal y protección de las víctimas”, EDISOFER, pp. 223-263.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2015), *La protección de los derechos de las víctimas de la guerra civil y de la dictadura franquista*, in “Los Derechos Humanos en España: un balance crítico”, Tirant lo Blanch, pp. 242-273.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2014), *Global and European Sport Governance: The Role of European Institutions and Sport Governing Bodies*, in: *The Changing Role of Law in the Age of Supra –and Transnational Governance*, Nomos, pp. 319-330.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2014), *Límites a la lucha contra la inmigración irregular por vía marítima impuestos por el Derecho Internacional de los Derechos Humanos*, in: “Autonomía individual frente a autonomía colectiva. Derechos en conflicto”, Marcial Pons, pp. 193-218.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2014), *La protección de los menores víctimas de la trata de seres humanos: algunas precisiones en torno al principio de diligencia debida*, Revista de Derecho Migratorio y Extranjería, issue 35, pp. 68-80.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2014), *International Sports Law*, in: “Oxford Bibliographies in International Law”, Oxford University Press.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2013), *La lucha internacional contra el dopaje en el deporte*, in: “El dopaje en el deporte. Comentario a la Ley Orgánica 2/2013, de 20 de junio, de protección de la salud del deportista y lucha contra el dopaje en la actividad deportiva”, Dykinson, pp. 17-62.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2013), *Derecho a la verdad y desapariciones forzadas durante la guerra civil y el franquismo: una perspectiva desde el Derecho internacional*, in: “Desapariciones forzadas, represión política y crímenes del franquismo”, Trotta, p. 55-76.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2013), *Derecho Internacional del deporte. Unión Europea y otros organismos internacionales*, in: “Derecho del deporte”, Thomson Reuters Aranzadi, pp. 177-217.

#### 5.4. JOURNAL ARTICLES

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2019), *The Contribution of the EU to the Implementation of the Global Compacts: Legal Certainty for People on the Move as a Global Public Good*, Spanish Yearbook of International Law, Vol. 23, pp. 212—227.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2019), *Migraciones y Declaración Americana de los Derechos y los Deberes del Hombre. La contribución de la Declaración a la conformación de un Derecho internacional de las migraciones*, Revista Electrónica Iberoamericana, special issue, Vol. 13, pp. 315-339.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2018), *Migraciones y Constitución española*, Revista Peruana de Derecho Constitucional, nueva época, No. 11, pp. 209-227.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2017), *Migraciones irregulares y desarrollo*, Tiempo de Paz, issue127, pp. 37-44.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2017), *¿Un Derecho internacional del deporte?: Reflexiones en torno a una rama del Derecho internacional in statu nascendi*, Revista Española de Derecho Internacional, Vol. 69/1, pp. 195-217.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2016), *Entre las exigencias de la seguridad y la retórica de los derechos humanos: la respuesta de la Unión Europea a los flujos de refugiados y migrantes*, Anuario de Derecho Público de la Universidad Diego Portales, pp. 455-472.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2016), *La tipificación de la trata de seres humanos como crimen contra la humanidad: Una contribución al debate en torno al elemento político de los crímenes*, Revista Electrónica de Estudios Internacionales, issue 31, 37 pp.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. and IPPOLITO, F. (2016), *Eppur si muove!: nuevos caminos jurisprudenciales para la protección de los derechos sociales de los migrantes indocumentados en Europa*, Revista de Derecho Comunitario Europeo, issue 53, pp. 79-116.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2015), *On Transparency, Good Governance and the Fight Against Corruption: Some Lessons (and Questions) from an International Law Perspective*, Spanish Yearbook of International Law, Vol. 19, pp. 143-165.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2015), *A propósito de la acción del Consejo de Europa en el ámbito del deporte. Análisis del Convenio europeo sobre la manipulación de competiciones deportivas*, Eunomía. Revista en Cultura de la Legalidad, issue 8, pp. 71-92.

-PÉREZ GONZÁLEZ, C. (2014), *International Sports Law and the Fight against Doping: An Analysis from an International Human Rights Law Perspective*, European Society of International Law Conference Paper Series, Conference Paper 5/2014, 16 pp.

-EU-China Human Rights Dialogue Seminar on the Prohibition of Torture and the Right of Education. Bruselas, 5-7 de diciembre de 2001.

## **6. GRANTS AND AWARDS**

-Scholarship granted under the Japan Foundation Short-Term Fellowship Program, 2018.

-Secondary XV Award FRANCISCO JAVIER DE LANDABURU UNIVERSITAS 2016 with Itziar Gómez Fernández) granted by the Consejo Vasco del Movimiento Europeo (EUROBASK).

-Silver Medal for sports merits awarded by the President of the Sports Council, 2011.

-Research scholarship granted by the European Commission, Access to Justice in the Freedom, Security and Justice Framework, 2003.

**JANUARY 2021**